
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 

Civil Action No.: 13-1860 

 

MICHAELEE OWEN, 

JEANINE ROYBAL, and 

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit organization, and 

COLORADO ASSOCIATION OF THE DEAF, a Colorado non-profit organization, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

KIRK TAYLOR, in his official capacity as Sheriff of Pueblo County, Colorado, and 

THE CITY OF PUEBLO, COLORADO, INCLUDING ITS POLICE DEPARTMENT, 

 

Defendants. 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 

Plaintiffs, Michaelee Owen, Jeanine Roybal, the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

(“CCDC”), and the Colorado Association of the Deaf (“CAD”), by and through undersigned 

counsel, hereby bring this Complaint against Kirk Taylor, in his official capacity as Sheriff of 

Pueblo County, Colorado, and the City of Pueblo, Colorado, including its Police Department, for 

violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq. 

Introduction  

1. On July 26, 1990, more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing 

the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not discriminated 
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against. 

3. One of the important purposes of the ADA is ensuring that deaf or hard-of-

hearing individuals receive qualified sign language interpreter services or other appropriate 

auxiliary aids and services to ensure effective communication. 

4. Title II of the ADA specifically applies to public entities, such as the Pueblo 

County Sheriff’s Department (“Sheriff”) and Pueblo Police Department (“PPD”). 

5. As set forth more fully below, Defendants discriminate against Mr. Owen, and 

other deaf and hard of hearing individuals, on the basis of disability by refusing to take 

appropriate steps to ensure that communications with individuals who are deaf are as effective as 

communications with others. 

6. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA and 

Section 504, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

 Parties 

9. Plaintiff Michaelee Owen is, and was at all times material hereto, a resident of 

Colorado.   

10. Mr. Owen is deaf.   

11. Mr. Owen is a member of CCDC and CAD. 
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12. Plaintiff Jeanine Roybal is, and was at all times material hereto, a resident of 

Colorado. 

13. Ms. Roybal is Mr. Owen’s aunt, and was his custodian before Mr. Owen reached 

majority. 

14. Ms. Roybal is a member of CCDC and CAD. 

15. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition is a Colorado non-profit corporation 

whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies. 

16. Plaintiff CAD is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are deaf 

individuals and their families.  

17. Defendant Kirk Taylor is the Sheriff of Pueblo County, Colorado, elected and 

serving pursuant to Part 5, Article 10, Title 30, Colorado Revised Statutes.  The Sheriff also 

serves as the custodian of the Pueblo County Detention Facility (“PCDF”).  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

30-10-511.  Sheriff Taylor is sued in his official capacity as the Sheriff of Pueblo County, 

Colorado. 

18. Defendant City of Pueblo, Colorado (“Pueblo”) is a home rule municipality, 

organized pursuant to the Colorado Constitution, Article XX and Title 31, Colorado Revised 

Statutes.  The PPD is a department of Pueblo, and is empowered by the Pueblo Municipal Code 

to oversee police functions in Pueblo. 

Facts 

Background Information 

19. Mr. Owen communicates by using American Sign Language (“ASL”). 
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20. ASL is a separate and distinct language from English, which uses its own unique 

phrases, descriptions, syntax and grammatical rules. 

21. Mr. Owen does not speak, read or write effectively in English. 

22. Mr. Owen does not read lips effectively. 

23. Mr. Owen can read and write some words and phrases in English, but he does not 

understand most written communication. 

Mr. Owen’s Arrest 

24. On the morning of May 5, 2012, Mr. Owen was arrested by PPD Corporal M. 

Billings. 

25. At the time of his arrest, Mr. Owen posed no threat to the health, safety or welfare 

of any person or property. 

26. When Corporal Billings arrived, Mr. Owen was quietly seated on a curb. 

27. On information and belief, Mr. Owen’s disability was readily apparent to 

Corporal Billings. 

28. Neither Corporal Billings nor any other deputy, agent, employee or contractor 

(“Personnel”) of Defendant offered or provided Mr. Owen with appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services, including a qualified sign language interpreter, necessary to ensure effective 

communication, either during or following Mr. Owen’s arrest. 

29. Following Mr. Owen’s arrest, he was transported to the PCDF, his custody was 

transferred to the Sheriff, and he was booked. 
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Mr. Owen’s Admission into the Detention Facility 

30. On information and belief, the Sheriff’s booking process includes photographing, 

fingerprinting, and questioning of the arrestee for security, classification and medical reasons. 

31. During Mr. Owen’s booking, approximately eight or nine of the Sheriff’s 

deputies, agents, employees and contractors (“Personnel”) attempted to communicate with Mr. 

Owen by using gestures when interacting with Mr. Owen. 

32. Mr. Owen did not understand many of the Sheriff’s Personnel’s gestures. 

33. During Mr. Owen's booking some of the same Personnel tried writing notes to 

Mr. Owen and requested that Mr. Owen respond in writing. 

34. Mr. Owen did not understand much of the written communication. 

35. On information and belief, Mr. Owen’s disability was and is readily apparent to 

the Sheriff’s Personnel at the PCDF. 

36. The Sheriff’s Personnel provided Mr. Owen with various documents to read and 

sign. 

37. Mr. Owen was unable to read or understand much of the content of those 

documents in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, including a qualified sign 

language interpreter. 

38. Mr. Owen signed the documents provided by the Sheriff’s Personnel because he 

was directed to do so by the Sheriff’s Personnel while in custody. 

39. Defendant’s Personnel attempted to conduct an intake interview with Mr. Owen 

in writing. 
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40. The intake interview required Mr. Owen to provide detailed personal background 

information. 

41. The Sheriff’s Personnel attempted to conduct a medical screening interview. 

42.  The medical screening interview required Mr. Owen to provide detailed 

information about his medical and psychological condition. 

43. Obtaining accurate information from detainees during booking is critical for the 

Sheriff’s Personnel to determine where to house those detainees, and whether they pose a risk to 

themselves or others. 

44. Mr. Owen did not understand many of the intake questions. 

45. Mr. Owen was not able to effectively communicate with the Sheriff’s Personnel 

during the intake process. 

46. Mr. Owen was not able to effectively communicate with the Sheriff’s Personnel 

during the medical screening process. 

47. Mr. Owen would have been able to communicate much more effectively with the 

Sheriff’s Personnel during the booking process if he had been offered and provided a qualified 

sign language interpreter. 

48. During Mr. Owen’s booking, none of the Sheriff’s Personnel offered or provided 

Mr. Owen with appropriate auxiliary aids and services, including a qualified sign language 

interpreter, necessary to ensure effective communication. 

49. Due to the Sheriff’s and his Personnel’s failure to offer or provide Mr. Owen with 

appropriate auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure effective communication, Mr. Owen 
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was unable to effectively communicate with the Sheriff’s Personnel. 

Unequal Access to Communication Devices 

50. Mr. Owen is unable to make phone calls without an appropriate auxiliary aid or 

service, such as a functioning video phone or TTY machine. 

51. During Mr. Owen’s booking, Mr. Owen wrote to one of the Sheriff’s Personnel:  

“need inteper [sic]like TTY or vide [sic]Phone to call my brother.” 

52. The Sheriff’s Personnel did not offer or provide Mr. Owen with an interpreter, a 

TTY, a video phone, or any other auxiliary aid or service so he could call his brother. 

53. Due to the Sheriff’s and his Personnel’s failure to offer or provide Mr. Owen with 

appropriate auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure effective communication, Mr. Owen 

was unable to communicate with his brother. 

54. Pursuant to the Sheriff’s policies at the time, “[a]fter booking and within four 

hours of commitment, newly arrested offenders will be given a reasonable amount of phone calls 

to allow for bonding or for alerting family members of their whereabouts.” 

55. The Sheriff’s Personnel denied Mr. Owen appropriate auxiliary aids and services 

necessary to make any phone calls during or within four hours of his booking.  The Sheriff’s 

Personnel did not offer or provide Mr. Owen with an appropriate auxiliary aid or service that 

would permit him to make phone calls pursuant to their policy. 

56. Because the Sheriff’s and Defendant’s Personnel failed to provide Mr. Owen with 

an appropriate auxiliary aid or service necessary for him to make phone calls, Mr. Owen was 

denied equal access to telephonic communication by the Sheriff. 
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57. Mr. Owen was unable to make any phone calls until approximately May 8, 2012. 

58. Although the Sheriff eventually provided Mr. Owen with access to a TTY device 

with which he could make phone calls, Mr. Owen’s access to the TTY device was unequal to 

similarly situated hearing detainees at the PCDF.  

59. On information and belief, detainees at the PCDF who are not deaf or hard of 

hearing are able to use telephones regularly, and need not request access then wait for the 

Sheriff’s Personnel to grant that request in order to access telephones. 

60. In order for Mr. Owen to use the TTY, he was required to request access to the 

TTY from a member of the Sheriff’s Personnel, then wait for the Sheriff’s Personnel to grant his 

request. 

61. The TTY device the Sheriff provided to Mr. Owen does not ensure effective 

communication between Mr. Owen and other individuals, as TTY devices require the use of 

typewritten English rather than ASL. 

62. Communication using a TTY takes much longer to complete than communication 

using a phone because the telephone relay operator must wait for the deaf individual using the 

TTY to type out communications. 

Unequal Access to Programs, Services, and Activities 

63. On information and belief, detainees at the PCDF are issued an orientation 

booklet by the Sheriff’s Personnel, which details, in written English or Spanish, the PCDF rules 

and regulations that detainees must follow, penalties for failing to follow rules and regulations, 

and information regarding courts, visitation, mail, legal rights, commissary, and several similar 
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activities. 

64. Mr. Owen was not issued an orientation booklet. 

65. On information and belief, detainees at the PCDF can access a written, electronic 

version of the orientation booklet on computer terminal kiosks. 

66. In the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, Mr. Owen was unable to 

read or understand the written, electronic version of the orientation booklet. 

67. Because of the Sheriff’s failure to offer or provide appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services necessary for the content of the orientation booklet to be communicated to Mr. Owen, 

Mr. Owen was unaware of many rules, regulations, penalties, rights, privileges and obligations of 

PCDF detainees, including himself. 

68. On information and belief, the Sheriff offers various programs, services and 

activities to detainees at the PCDF. 

69. On information and belief, information regarding the programs, services and 

activities the Sheriff offers to detainees at the PCDF is provided to detainees in written form 

only. 

70. Because of the Sheriff’s failure to offer or provide appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services necessary for the information regarding programs, services and activities to be 

communicated to Mr. Owen, he was unaware of many of the programs, services and activities 

the Sheriff offers to detainees at the PCDF. 

71. Through his interactions with others at the PCDF, Mr. Owen became aware that 

the Sheriff offered janitorial-type work to detainees at the PCDF, and Mr. Owen attempted to 
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communicate his desire to perform such work to the Sheriff’s Personnel. 

72. The Sheriff’s Personnel either ignored or did not understand Mr. Owen’s attempts 

to communicate that he wished to participate in the Sheriff’s programs, services or activities, 

including performing janitorial-type work. 

73. Because of the Sheriff’s failure to offer or provide appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services necessary for the information regarding programs, services and activities to be 

effectively communicated to Mr. Owen, he did not know how to request information or access to 

those programs, services and activities. 

74. Through his interactions with others at the PCDF, Mr. Owen became aware that 

the Sheriff offered religious classes to detainees at the PCDF, and Mr. Owen attempted to 

communicate to the Sheriff’s Personnel that he wished to participate in the Sheriff’s religious 

classes, with a sign language interpreter. 

75. The Sheriff refused to provide a sign language interpreter for Mr. Owen to 

participate in the religious class, thereby denying Mr. Owen equal access to the religious class, as 

well as effective communication during the religious class. 

76. On information and belief, the PCDF has a warning system, which is used to 

communicate information to detainees at the PCDF, including fire alarms. 

77. On information and belief, the PCDF is equipped with a public address system, 

which is used to communicate information to detainees at the PCDF. 

78. Because of the Sheriff’s failure to offer or provide appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services necessary for the information communicated to detainees at the PCDF through the 
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warning and public address systems to be effectively communicated to him, Mr. Owen was 

denied equal access to such information. 

Denial of Effective Communication through Kites 

79. On information and belief, when detainees at the PCDF wish to make a request of 

the Sheriff and his Personnel, such detainee is supposed to submit that request via a written form 

commonly known as a “kite.” 

80. Neither the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel communicated to Mr. Owen that he 

should submit requests via kites. 

81. Submitting kites requires detainees to write in English. 

82. Mr. Owen did not know about submitting requests via kites until urged to 

complete a kite by his former cellmate. 

83. Mr. Owen’s former cellmate knew how to fingerspell, but is not a qualified 

interpreter. 

84. Fingerspelling is spelling words, with English-language phrases, descriptions, 

syntax and grammatical rules, in a sign language alphabet, but is not ASL. 

85. Because Mr. Owen does not read or write English effectively, his former cellmate 

provided him with substantial assistance in submitting kites. 

86. In the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, and without his former 

cellmate’s assistance, Mr. Owen was unable to read or write and submit kites. 

87. On July 14, 2012, Mr. Owen, through his former cellmate, requested access to the 

TTY. 
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88. One of the Sheriff’s Personnel, Deputy Christine Hansel, demanded that Mr. 

Owen tell her who he intended to call, then refused to provide Mr. Owen with access to the TTY. 

89. Because Deputy Hansel refused to provide Mr. Owen with access to the TTY, Mr. 

Owen’s former cellmate urged Mr. Owen to submit a kite requesting access to the TTY and a 

grievance against Deputy Hansel. 

90. Mr. Owen, with substantial assistance from his former cellmate, submitted a kite 

requesting access to the TTY and grieving Deputy Hansel. 

91. The kite Mr. Owen submitted stated: 

This is a Grievance towards Deputy Hansel.  I’m deaf and have to use TTY 

machine.  All other Deputy’s pull me out to make calls she tells me no!  All the 

time.  They said it was to work on the phone in my wing but it doesn’t and has not 

been fixed.  This is my right to call home.  She is always so rude, never tries to 

tell me or try to tell me she leaves it up to [redacted] in my wing.  Why cause he 

knows sign.  No that’s not right.  We have tried phone in wing  Does not work[.]” 

 

92. After Mr. Owen submitted his kite, Deputy Hansel retrieved the kite, read it, and 

returned to Mr. Owen’s cell, where she began to yell at Mr. Owen for submitting the kite. 

93. Deputy Hansel then contacted another member of the Sheriff’s Personnel who, on 

information and belief, was Deputy Hansel’s supervisor. 

94. Deputy Hansel and her putative supervisor then returned to Mr. Owen’s cell and 

once again began yelling at Mr. Owen for submitting the kite. 

95. In response to Mr. Owen’s kite, the Sheriff’s Personnel responded:  “She will pull 

you out when she is able.  She was busy when you made your request. You have no set time to 

come out  It is at the deputies convenience” (sic) (emphasis added). 

96. Mr. Owen’s former cellmate communicated with the members of the Sheriff’s 
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Personnel, on information and belief, on Mr. Owen’s behalf, and advocated for Mr. Owen. 

97. On information and belief, the members of the Sheriff’s Personnel then 

determined that Mr. Owen and his cellmate were in violation of certain – unknown to Mr. Owen 

– PCDF policies, rules or regulations. 

98. The members of the Sheriff’s Personnel then demanded that Mr. Owen sign a 

document, which Mr. Owen understood to be some sort of waiver, though Mr. Owen was unclear 

of the document’s actual purpose. 

99. Mr. Owen refused to sign the document. 

100. The members of the Sheriff’s Personnel then contacted a third member of the 

Sheriff’s Personnel who, on information and belief, is higher in the Sheriff’s chain of command 

than either of the other two members of the Sheriff’s Personnel. 

101. In the interim, Mr. Owen submitted a second kite, which stated:  “Need to speak 

with some one that I could under stand [sic] cause I am deaf and there is a mis under standing 

[sic] what I am being written up for and charged with..Need help please.” 

102. This second kite was intercepted and responded to by Deputy Hansel. 

103. Despite Mr. Owen’s specific request for communications assistance, Deputy 

Hansel responded to Mr. Owen’s second kite by stating: 

You are being charged with B-16, m-1, m-3 and O-9.  Look on the kiosk for 

Inmate Handbook for extended information on charges.  You were given your 

Acknowledgement of rights of which you read and signed.  On the 

Acknowledgement of Right you received a brief explanation of your charges.” 

[sic]. 

 

104. In the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, Mr. Owen was unable to 
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read or understand the Acknowledgement of Rights form Deputy Hansel demanded he sign. 

105. When that third member of the Sheriff’s Personnel responded, he, on information 

and belief, determined that no policy, rule or regulation violations existed. 

106. As a result of that encounter, for the duration of his stay at the PCDF, Mr. Owen 

was not comfortable making requests of Deputy Hansel, although she regularly worked in the 

area of the PCDF in which Mr. Owen was housed. 

107. Shortly after that encounter, Mr. Owen was assigned to another cell where he had 

a different cellmate. 

108. On information and belief, Mr. Owen’s cell reassignment was not the result of the 

Sheriff reclassifying Mr. Owen or his former cellmate. 

109. On information and belief, Mr. Owen’s cell reassignment was the Sheriff and his 

Personnel’s retaliation against Mr. Owen and his former cellmate for the former cellmate’s 

advocating for Mr. Owen’s access to the TTY. 

110. According to records received from the Sheriff in response to a request under the 

Colorado Open Records Act and Colorado Criminal Justice Records Act, Mr. Owen was 

reassigned “to separate [him] from [a] bad influence” and that reassignment occurred 

immediately after Mr. Owen’s cellmate advocated for Mr. Owen. 

111. Mr. Owen requested that the Sheriff transfer him back to his former cell, so that 

his former cellmate could continue assisting him with communicating with the Sheriff’s 

Personnel and other inmates. 

112. The Sheriff refused to transfer Mr. Owen back to his former cell. 
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Denial of Effective Communication for Disciplinary Hearings 

113. On October 23, 2013, while Mr. Owen was in his new cell, his new cellmate 

falsely alleged that Mr. Owen had struck him with a bowl. 

114. When the Sheriff’s Personnel confronted Mr. Owen about his new cellmate’s 

allegations, Mr. Owen attempted to communicate to the Sheriff’s Personnel that he required a 

sign language interpreter to communicate what had occurred. 

115. The Sheriff’s Personnel refused, ignored or did not understand Mr. Owen’s 

requests for a sign language interpreter, because Mr. Owen was not provided with a sign 

language interpreter to address his new cellmate’s allegations against him. 

116. Neither the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel offered or provided Mr. Owen with 

any auxiliary aids or services to address his new cellmate’s allegations against him. 

117. The Sheriff’s Personnel then transferred Mr. Owen to a different, individual cell, 

which he was only permitted to leave for one hour per day. 

118. On October 28, 2012, Mr. Owen submitted a kite requesting that an interpreter be 

provided for his disciplinary hearing. 

119. In response to Mr. Owen’s October 29, 2012 kite, the Sheriff’s Personnel 

responded, “You will need to let the hearing officer know that you want an interpreter.” 

120. Mr. Owen remained in the individual cell, which he was only allowed out of for 

one hour per day, until his release. 

Denial of Effective Communication for Dental Procedure 

121. Also while at the PCDF, Mr. Owen underwent a dental procedure. 
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122. Mr. Owen desired a qualified interpreter for his appointment with the dentist who 

performed the dental procedure, but, in light of his earlier requests for an interpreter that the 

Sheriff’s Personnel refused or ignored, Mr. Owen believed that requesting an interpreter would 

be futile. 

123. Mr. Owen was unaware whether he even could request an interpreter for his 

dental appointment, and how he would request an interpreter if he was able to do so. 

124. The dentist who performed Mr. Owen’s dental procedure was able to fingerspell, 

but could not communicate in ASL. 

125. Due to the complicated medical nature of much of the communication attempted 

by the dentist, Mr. Owen was unable to understand most of the dentist’s communication. 

126. As a result of the Sheriff’s failure to offer or provide appropriate auxiliary aids 

and services to Mr. Owen during his dental appointment and procedure, Mr. Owen was denied 

effective communication with the dentist. 

Denial of Effective Communication for the Duration of Mr. Owen’s Incarceration 

127. Mr. Owen was released from custody on October 30, 2012. 

128. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel offered or provided Mr. Owen with appropriate auxiliary 

aids and services necessary to ensure that communications between him and the Sheriff’s 

Personnel were effective. 

129. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel provided Mr. Owen with an appropriate auxiliary aid or 
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service necessary to ensure effective telephonic communication. 

130. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel provided Mr. Owen with access to telephonic 

communication that is equal to the access provided to detainees who are not deaf or hard of 

hearing. 

131. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel effectively communicated the information contained in the 

orientation booklet to Mr. Owen. 

132. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel effectively communicated any information regarding 

available programs, services and activities to Mr. Owen. 

133. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel ensured that the information communicated to detainees 

via the warning and public address systems was effectively communicated to Mr. Owen. 

134. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, Mr. 

Owen was only made aware of his rights, privileges, obligations and responsibilities, whether 

under the orientation booklet or as a result of a warning or public address system announcement, 

by communicating with fellow detainees or the Sheriff’s Personnel through gestures or writing, 

which are not effective for, and therefore deny equal access to communication to Mr. Owen. 

135. From his arrest on May 5, 2012 through his release on October 30, 2012, neither 

the Sheriff nor the Sheriff’s Personnel ascertained or gave due consideration to Mr. Owen’s 
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preferred method of communication, specifically his requests for an interpreter and a video 

phone. 

Ms. Roybal 

136. Following Mr. Owen’s arrest, Ms. Roybal was unable to determine Mr. Owen’s 

whereabouts for approximately ten days. 

137. Prior to Mr. Owen’s arrest, Ms. Roybal had received a call from a Pueblo-area 

hospital, during which the individual with whom Ms. Roybal spoke indicated that hospital staff 

believed Mr. Owen had attempted to commit suicide. 

138. During those ten days, Ms. Roybal became increasingly concerned about Mr. 

Owen’s health, safety and well-being. 

139. During those ten days, Ms. Roybal contacted multiple Pueblo-area hospitals, and 

multiple mental health centers, to determine Mr. Owen’s location. 

140. Ms. Roybal was so distraught as a result of her concern for Mr. Owen’s health, 

safety and well-being that her employer required that she take a few days off of work. 

141. Ms. Roybal only learned of Mr. Owen’s whereabouts when Mr. Owen’s former 

cellmate called her on Mr. Owen’s behalf to inform her that Mr. Owen was being detained at the 

PCDF. 

142. Once Ms. Roybal determined Mr. Owen’s whereabouts, she immediately went to 

the PCDF to visit Mr. Owen. 

143. Because Defendants failed to offer or provide Mr. Owen with an appropriate 

auxiliary aid or service necessary for him to make phone calls for days after his arrest, Ms. 
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Roybal was unable to communicate with Mr. Owen telephonically for that period of time. 

The Sheriff’s failure to take appropriate steps to ensure effective communication 

144. The Sheriff denies access to appropriate auxiliary aids and services for deaf and 

hard of hearing arrestees and detainees to communicate with his Personnel. 

145. The Sheriff denies equal access to auxiliary aids and services necessary to permit 

deaf and hard of hearing detainees to make phone calls. 

146. The Sheriff denies equal access to information about programs, services and 

activities it provides to permit deaf and hard of hearing detainees to participate. 

147. The Sheriff had policies addressing detainees with disabilities, but those policies 

do not address the provision of appropriate auxiliary aids and services to deaf and hard of 

hearing individuals. 

148. The Sheriff has adopted new policies addressing communications with deaf and 

hard or hearing individuals, however, those policies do not ensure that the Sheriff or the Sheriff’s 

Personnel will provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services, or ensure that communication is 

effective. 

149. The Sheriff has not taken appropriate steps to ensure that communications with 

deaf individuals are as effective as communications with others. 

150. The Sheriff has not provided an opportunity for individuals with disabilities to 

request the auxiliary aids and services of their choice. 

151. The Sheriff has not taken steps to ensure that deaf and hard of hearing detainees at 

the PCDF have an opportunity to request the auxiliary aids and services of the individual's 
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choice. 

152. The Sheriff has not taken steps to ensure it offers or provides appropriate 

auxiliary aids and services to deaf and hard of hearing detainees at the PCDF necessary to ensure 

effective communication. 

PPD Policies 

153. On information and belief, on March 21, 2013, the PPD adopted policies 

addressing communications with deaf and hard of hearing individuals; however, those policies 

do not ensure that the PPD will provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services, or ensure that 

communication is effective. 

Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

154. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation 

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training.  As a part of that purpose, 

CCDC seeks to ensure that individuals who are deaf and hard-of-hearing have access to -- and do 

not encounter discrimination in -- participating equally in government services, including 

services while encountering law enforcement officials, and while being arrested, booked, 

interrogated, and detained. 

155. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts 

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the 

ADA and Section 504. 
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156. The interests Plaintiffs seek to protect – ensuring that Defendants offer and 

provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services for effective communication for deaf individuals, 

including individuals who require qualified sign language interpreters for effective 

communication – is germane to CCDC’s purpose.  

157. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 

perceptible injury to CCDC.  Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described 

herein. 

158. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of the Defendants, is at the core of 

CCDC’s organizational purpose. 

Colorado Association of the Deaf 

159. CAD’s purpose is to protect the rights of deaf individuals and their families, to 

empower deaf individuals to exercise self-determination and independence, and to advocate for 

equal opportunities in social, educational, and employment opportunities in Colorado. As a part 

of that purpose, CAD seeks to ensure that deaf individuals and individuals who are hard-of-

hearing have access to – and do not encounter discrimination in – participating in government 

services, including services while encountering law enforcement officials, and while being 

arrested, booked, interrogated, and detained.  

160. CAD engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts to 

promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the 

ADA and Section 504. 
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161. The interests Plaintiffs seek to protect – ensuring that Defendants offer and 

provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services for effective communication for deaf individuals, 

including individuals who require qualified sign language interpreters for effective 

communication – is germane to CAD’s purpose.  

162. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 

perceptible injury to CAD.  Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described herein. 

163. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of the Defendants, is at the core of 

CAD’s organizational purpose. 

164. Mr. Owen, and other deaf and hard of hearing individuals, and persons associated 

with Mr. Owen, such as Ms. Roybal, or with other deaf and hard of hearing individuals, 

including members of CCDC and CAD, have been harmed, and will continue to be harmed by 

Defendants’ failure to provide appropriate auxiliary ands and services to deaf and hard of hearing 

individuals. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Title II of the ADA) 

 

165. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

166. Public entities are defined as “any State or local government; [and] any 

department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or States or local 

government[.]”  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(A)-(B). 

167. Defendants are public entities within the meaning of the ADA.  See 42 U.S.C. § 

12131(1). 
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168. Title II of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “[N]o qualified individual with a 

disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the 

benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subject to discrimination 

by any such entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a). 

169. Ms. Owen is a qualified individual with a disability.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12131(2). 

170. The regulations implementing Title II further provide that public entities “may 

not, directly or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements,” deny or provide an 

unequal opportunity to participate in or benefit from their programs services and activities on the 

basis of disability.  28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b). 

171. Public entities, “shall take appropriate steps to ensure that communications with 

[individuals] with disabilities are as effective as communications with others.”  28 C.F.R. § 

35.160(a)(1).   

172. Public entities are obligated to “furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services 

where necessary to afford individuals with disabilities . . . an equal opportunity to participate in, 

and enjoy the benefits of, a service, program, or activity of a public entity.”  28 C.F.R. § 

35.160(b)(1). 

173. Public entities “must provide an opportunity for individuals with disabilities to 

request the auxiliary aids and services of their choice.” 28 C.F.R., pt. 35, app. B. 

174. In determining what type of auxiliary aid or service is appropriate, public entities 

are required to consider: 

the method of communication used by the individual; the nature, length, and 

complexity of the communication involved; and the context in which the 
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communication is taking place.  In determining what types of auxiliary aids and 

services are necessary, a public entity shall give primary consideration to the 

requests of individuals with disabilities.  In order to be effective, auxiliary aids 

and services must be provided in accessible formats, in a timely manner, and in 

such a way as to protect the privacy and independence of the individual with a 

disability. 

 

28 C.F.R. § 35.160(b)(2). 

175. Moreover, public entities “shall ensure that interested persons, including persons 

with impaired vision or hearing, can obtain information as to the existence and location of 

accessible services, activities, and facilities.”  28 C.F.R. § 35.163. 

176. Defendants have discriminated against Mr. Owen on the basis of his disability by, 

without limitation, failing to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure 

effective communication, and by providing Mr. Owen with unequal access to their programs, 

services and activities.  See generally, 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.130; 35.160; 35.163. 

177. “No private or public entity shall coerce, intimidate, threaten, nor interfere with 

any individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having exercised or 

enjoyed, or on account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other individual in the 

exercise or enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by this Act or this part.”  28 C.F.R. § 

35.134(b). 

178. The Sheriff’s Personnel have retaliated against Mr. Owen for, without limitation, 

seeking access to the TTY. 

179. Ms. Roybal is an individual known to have a relationship or association with an 

individual, Mr. Owen, known to have a disability.  See 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 
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180. Defendants have discriminated against Ms. Roybal on the basis of her known 

relationship or association with Mr. Owen, who is known to have a disability. 

181. CCDC is also an entity that has a relationship or association with Mr. Owen.  See 

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 

182. CAD is also an entity that has a relationship or association with Mr. Owen. See 28 

C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 

183. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendants’ discrimination. 

184. In the absence of appropriate and enforced policies, practices and procedures, Mr. 

Owen and other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC and CAD members will be subject to 

discrimination by Defendants solely on the basis of their disabilities because of Defendants’ 

failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure effective 

communication. 

185. Plaintiffs have been injured, damaged and aggrieved by, and, in the absence of the 

injunction requested herein, will continue to be injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ 

discrimination. 

186. Defendants and their respective Personnel have acted intentionally and with a 

reckless disregard for Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 1:13-cv-01860   Document 2   Filed 07/15/13   USDC Colorado   Page 25 of 29



26 
 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act) 

 

187. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

188. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), provides in 

pertinent part: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, 

solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance.   

 

See also 28 C.F.R. § 45.51(a). 

 

189. Defendants receive federal funding through state and federal programs.   

190. Section 504 is in pari materia with the ADA. 

191. Defendants’ law enforcement and detention activities constitute the operation of 

“a department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or of a local 

government[.]”  29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(1)(A). 

192. The regulations implementing Section 504 state:  "Recipients shall take 

appropriate steps to ensure that communications with their applicants, employees, and 

beneficiaries are available to persons with impaired vision and hearing."  28 C.F.R. § 45.51(e).  

See also 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.130; 35.160; 35.163. 

193. Mr. Owen is a qualified individual with a disability.  

194. Mr. Owen has been subjected to discrimination by Defendants, as described in 

this Complaint, solely on the basis of his disability, including without limitation the failure to 
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provide auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure effective communication, and unequal 

access to Defendants’ programs, services and activities.   

195. Ms. Roybal is an individual known to have a relationship or association with an 

individual, Mr. Owen, known to have a disability.  

196. Ms. Roybal has been subjected to discrimination by Defendants, as described in 

this Complaint, solely on the basis of her known relationship or association with Mr. Owen, who 

is known to have a disability.  Such discrimination includes without limitation the failure to 

provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure effective communication, and 

unequal access to Defendants’ programs, services and activities. 

197. CCDC has members who are also qualified individuals with disabilities. 

198. CAD has members who are also qualified individuals with disabilities.  

199. In the absence of appropriate and enforced policies, practices and procedures, Mr. 

Owen and other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC and CAD members will be subject to 

discrimination by Defendants solely on the basis of their disabilities, including Defendants’ 

failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure effective 

communication. 

200. Defendants and their respective Personnel acted intentionally and with a reckless 

disregard for Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 

201. Plaintiffs have been injured, damaged and aggrieved by, and, in the absence of the 

injunction requested herein, will continue to be injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ 

discrimination. 
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Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Section 

504 and Title II of the ADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to provide qualified sign 

language interpreters and other appropriate auxiliary aids or services in order to ensure effective 

communication with deaf and hard-of-hearing individuals; 

4. That this Court awards Plaintiffs damages; 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 1:13-cv-01860   Document 2   Filed 07/15/13   USDC Colorado   Page 28 of 29



29 
 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Kevin W. Williams       

Kevin W. Williams 

Andrew C. Montoya 

Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

655 Broadway, Suite 775 

Denver, Colorado 80203 

Phone: (303) 839-1775 

Facsimile: (720) 210-9819 

E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 

E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Dated: July 15, 2013 

Address of Plaintiff Michaelee Owen: 

 

848 East Kiowa Street, #C3 

Colorado Springs, Colorado 80903 

 

Address of Plaintiff Jeanine Roybal: 

 

9740 Detroit Street 

Thornton, Colorado 80229 

 

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 

 

655 Broadway, Suite 775 

Denver, Colorado 80203 

 

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Association of the Deaf 

 

3131 Osceola Street 

Denver, CO 80212 
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